#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Aug 06 2018 08:18 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

GERARDO PEREZ,

Appellant,

Vs.

BRIAN WILLIAMS, WARDEN,

Respondent

Case No. 75001

### **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

(Appeal from Judgment of Conviction)

### ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

BRET O. WHIPPLE, ESQ. JUSTICE LAW CENTER 1100 South 10<sup>th</sup> Street Las Vegas, NV 89104 Phone: 702-731-0000

Fax: 702-974-4008

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

STEVEN B. WOLFSON, ESQ. DISTRICT ATTORNEY

200 Lewis Ave

Las Vegas, NV 89101

Phone: 702-671-2500

ADAM LAXALT

Nevada Attorney General 100 North Carson Street Carson City, Nevada

(775) 684-1265

# JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The basis for this appeal is NRAP 4(b) and NRS 34.575(1). A Judgment of conviction was entered against Appellant on April 13. 2005, however this appeal direct arises out of the District Court's Decision and Order filed January 4 2018. AA 0062.

# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Whether the District Court erred in denying Appellant's Post Conviction of Habeas Corpus, where Appellant had challenged the Warden's refusal to apply good time credit to a Weapon Enhancement sentence being served under NRS 193.165.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 12, 2017 Petitioner Gerardo Perez ("Perez") filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-conviction) regarding the computation of "good time" as it applies to his underlying prison sentence in Case No. C200133. AA 0001-0015. Specifically, Mr. Perez argued that he had been denied approximately twenty (20) days of good time credit which he should have received. AA 0006-0009.

The District Court issued an Order for Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on August 4, 2017. AA 0016-0017. The State filed a Response to Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on September 26, 2017. AA 0019-0029.

The District Court issued a Decision and Order on January 4, 2018. AA 0056-0066. Therein, the District Court found and held that "Mr. Perez is active on a sentence which specified a parole eligibility date, and therefore is excluded from receiving good time credits." AA 0063. Mr. Perez, through undersigned counsel, filed a timely Notice of Appeal on January 25, 2018. AA 0067. This Opening Brief now follows.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Petitioner Gerardo Perez is currently incarcerated in High Desert State Prison.

Perez is serving a sentence arising out of criminal acts he committed on November 30, 2003. On April 13, 2005, the Court adjudicated Perez Guilty of Second Degree Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon, a category A felony.

#### LEGAL ARGUMENT

### A. MR. PEREZ IS ENTITLED TO GOOD TIME CREDIT.

Mr. Perez is serving a sentence for Second Degree Murder, combined with a sentence for a Deadly Weapon Enhancement. AA 0037. As such, there are two immediate questions: whether Mr. Perez was entitled to good time off the minimum sentence calculated under NRS 200.030 (murder), and second, whether Mr. Perez is entitled to good time off the minimum sentence calculated under NRS 193.165 (weapon enhancement). As Mr. Perez has been paroled off of the first sentence (murder), he is currently now serving the deadly weapon enhancement sentence, and it is on that latter sentence that he seeks good time credit.

In Williams v. State Dep't of Corr., 402 P.3d 1260, 1262 (Nev. 2017), this Court analyzed NRS 209.4465(7). That statute provides that credits earned pursuant to NRS 209.4465: (a) "[m]ust be deducted from [a prisoner's] maximum term" of imprisonment and (b) "[a]pply to eligibility for parole unless the offender was sentenced pursuant to a statute which specifies a minimum sentence that must be served before a person becomes eligible for parole." The first part of subsection 7(b) establishes a general rule—that credits earned pursuant to NRS 209.4465apply to eligibility for parole. The second part of subsection 7(b) sets forth a limitation—the general rule does not apply if the offender "was sentenced pursuant to a statute

which specifies a minimum sentence that must be served before a person becomes eligible for parole."

This Court held that: "if the sentencing statute did not specify a minimum sentence that had to be served before parole eligibility, credits should be deducted from a prisoner's minimum sentence, making an inmate eligible for parole sooner than he or she would have been without the credits." *Id*.

Applying *Williams*, it is clear that Mr. Perez is not entitled to good time off his "primary" sentence, as that statutes does mention a minimum term prior to parole eligibility: "(b) For a definite term of 25 years, with eligibility for parole beginning when a minimum of 10 years has been served." NRS 200.030(5)(b).

However, Mr. Perez is subject to a consecutive term of a minimum of ten years to a maximum of twenty-five years under NRS 193.165 as a deadly weapon enhancement. This sentence was imposed consecutively to Mr. Perez's Second Degree Murder sentence. Unlike the statute governing punishment for second degree murder, the weapon enhancement statute *does not* set the earliest parole eligibility at a certain number of years, rather it is silent on parole: "[a defendant punished under the weapon enhancement statute is to] be punished by imprisonment in the state prison for a minimum term of not less than 1 year and a maximum term of not more than 20 years." NRS § 193.165. Even if the prior meaning of NRS 193.165 is applied, which imposed a sentence consecutive and "equal to" the primary sentence,

this does not logically suggest that the term imposed under the consecutive sentence must automatically incorporate the parole-limiting language of the underlying crime's statute. In either case, the Court should not read into NRS 193.165 a limitation on parole eligibility from the "primary" offense.

This Court has already held that, despite punishment under NRS 193.165 being a continuation of the sentence for the primary offense, "the penalty for a primary offense and the enhancement penalty imposed pursuant to NRS 193.165 are separate and distinct, and the consecutive sentences imposed must be treated as separate sentences for all purposes." *Nev. Dep't of Prisons v. Bowen*, 103 Nev. 477, 481, 745 P.2d 697, 699 (1987).

Furthermore, in an unpublished opinion issuing after *Williams*, this Court held that good time must be awarded to a defendant serving a weapon enhancement sentence, where the underlying offense as committed between 1995 and 2007, i.e. in the same situation as exists here: "Garcia is serving a sentence pursuant to such a statute for a weapon enhancement related to an attempted sexual assault committed on or between July 17, 1997, and June 30, 2007. *See* NRS 193.165 (1995). [...] Consistent with *Williams*, the credits that Garcia has earned pursuant to NRS 209.4465 should be applied to his parole eligibility on the sentence he is serving. The district court erred in ruling to the contrary." *Garcia v. Baca*, 404 P.3d 408 (Nev. 2017).

While the State may attempt to distinguish *Garcia* from Perez's case by pointing out that the primary sentence in *Garcia* was eligible for good time reduction, whereas Perez's primary sentence is not eligible, this argument should be rejected. However, excluding good time off the sentence for the weapon enhancement, based on the eligibility of the "primary sentence," contradicts this Court's direction that the sentences imposed be treated separately for all purposes. If the sentences are treated separately here, the language of NRS 193.165 controls, and under *Williams*, the language of that statute allows for the reduction of good time.

#### CONCLUSION

Therefore, Appellant respectfully asks this Court to remand to district court so that can calculate Mr. Perez's good time on his deadly weapon enhancement sentence under NRS 193.165, under *Williams* and *Garcia*