Case No. 75001

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA Electronically Filed

Sep 05 2018 03:30 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

GERARDO PEREZ,

Appellant,

v.

BRIAN WILLIAMS, WARDEN,

Respondent.

On Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada Case No. A-17-753832-W

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

ADAM PAUL LAXALT
Attorney General
Nevada Bar No. 12426
JESSICA PERLICK
Deputy Attorney General
Nevada Bar No. 13218
State of Nevada
Office of the Attorney General
555 E. Washington Ave., Suite 3900
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
(702) 486-3825
jperlick@ag.nv.gov
Attorneys for Respondents

ISSUE PRESENTED

The district court correctly declined to apply good-time credits to Gerardo Perez's minimum term on the deadly weapon enhancement associated with his conviction for Second Degree Murder. Where the primary offense specifies a minimum sentence that must be served before an offender becomes eligible for parole, the sentence for the associated deadly weapon enhancement is equal to the statutory term prescribed for the primary offense.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Perez filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus (post-conviction) seeking the application of good-time credit against the minimum term of the deadly weapon enhancement portion of his sentence for Second Degree Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon. Appellant's Appendix ("AA") 1-15. The district court denied the petition, reasoning that Perez was convicted of a category A felony with a specified parole eligibility date, and NRS 209.4465(7)(b) therefore precludes the deduction of credits from his minimum term. AA 56-60 at 3:13-17. Perez appealed the district court's decision. AA 67-69. Respondent ("Warden") now files this Answering Brief.

///

///

///

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Perez's Underlying Criminal Case

On March 31, 2004, the State of Nevada charged Perez in Case No. C200133 with one count of Second Degree Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon, arising out of criminal acts he committed on November 30, 2003. AA 34-35.

On April 7, 2005, the Eighth Judicial District Court adjudicated Perez guilty of one count of Second Degree Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon, a category A felony. AA 37-38. The district court sentenced Perez to a maximum term of twenty-five (25) years, with a minimum parole eligibility of ten (10) years, plus an equal and consecutive term for the deadly weapon enhancement. *Id*.

II. The Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Challenging Time Credits

On October 27, 2016, Perez filed a Petition in the Eighth Judicial District Court alleging that he had been improperly deprived of the application of good time credit against his minimum sentence. AA 1-15. When Perez filed his Petition, he was on institutional parole from the Murder portion of his sentence, and actively serving his sentence for the Deadly Weapon Enhancement. AA 42 (showing "Status" as "A," or active, for the enhancement).

On June 7, 2017, the district court ordered the Warden to respond to Perez's Petition. AA 16-17. The Warden filed a response to the petition on September 26, 2017, asserting, in relevant part, that Perez was not entitled to credit against his

minimum sentence pursuant to NRS 209.4465(7)(b). AA 19-29. The court issued a minute order on September 28, 2017, denying Perez's Petition. AA 55. The district court filed its final order denying Perez's Petition on January 4, 2018, and its Notice of Entry on January 9, 2018. AA56-61.

On January 25, 2018, Perez appealed to the Nevada Supreme Court. AA 67-68. Perez filed his Opening Brief on August 6, 2018. The Warden now files this Answering Brief.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As this Court recently concluded, in an unpublished order, an inmate is not eligible to deduct good time credits from his minimum term if he is serving a sentence on a deadly weapon enhancement associated with an underlying offense that defines parole eligibility.

All inmates in Nevada have the opportunity to earn good time credits during their terms of incarceration, which apply to reduce their maximum sentences. Only offenders who were sentenced under a statute that does not specify a minimum sentence that must be served prior to becoming eligible for parole qualify to also have those credits deducted from their minimum sentence per NRS 209.4465(7). Perez does not fall into this category.

When Perez committed his offense in 2003, the deadly weapon enhancement codified at NRS 193.165 mandated a sentence that was "equal to" the sentence for

the underlying offense. Because Perez's underlying offense of Second Degree Murder mandated that he serve a minimum sentence before being eligible for parole, his sentence for the deadly weapon enhancement must be interpreted to have the same mandate. Nevada law requires that his deadly weapon enhancement sentence be identical in character to that for his underlying offense. Perez presents nothing that would support this Court reaching a different conclusion. This Court should affirm the ruling of the district court.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

This Court gives deference to factual findings of the district court, but it reviews legal conclusions *de novo*. *State v. Huebler*, 128 Nev. 192, 275 P.3d 91, 95 (2012). Questions of statutory interpretation are issues of law reviewed *de novo*. *See Davis v. Beling*, 128 Nev. 301, 278 P.3d 501, 510 (2012).

II. NRS 209.4465(7)(b) Prohibits Perez from Deducting Credits from His Parole Eligibility.

Inmates in Nevada have the opportunity to earn time credits through good behavior, program participation, or prison employment. NRS 209.4465(1-5). Offenders can have these good-time credits deducted from the maximum term of their sentences. NRS 209.4465(7)(a). But because these credits can result in a substantially earlier opportunity for parole if applied to their minimum term, only

certain offenders also qualify to have those credits deducted from their minimum term, or parole eligibility.

Specifically, if the inmate was sentenced pursuant to a statute that does not specify a term that must be served before parole eligibility, they are entitled to deduct good time credits from their minimum term. *Williams v. State Dep't of Corr.*, 402 P.3d 1260, 1265 (Nev. 2017). However, if the inmate was sentenced "pursuant to a statute which specifies a minimum sentence that must be served before a person becomes eligible for parole," the statutory good time credits do not apply to their minimum term. NRS 209.4465(7)(b); see also, Williams, 402 P.3d at 1263.

A. Perez Was Sentenced Pursuant to a Statute Which Specifies a Minimum Term that Must Be Served Before a Person Is Eligible for Parole.

It is well established that the proper penalty is the penalty in effect at the time of the offense. *State v. Second Judicial Dist. Court*, 124 Nev. 564, 567, 188 P.3d 1079, 1081 (2008). This includes not just the language of the statute governing the primary offense, but that of the deadly weapon enhancement. *Id.* Therefore, this Court should look at the language of NRS 193.165, the deadly weapon enhancement, as it read when Perez committed his offense.

¹ Because the Nevada Legislature amended NRS Chapter 209 in 2007, this Court restricted the *Williams* analysis to those inmates who committed their offense between July 17, 1997 and June 30, 2007. 402 P.3d at 1265 n.7.

In 2003, the deadly weapon enhancement statute mandated that an offender who used a deadly weapon during the commission of a crime "shall be punished by imprisonment in the state prison for a term equal to and in addition to the term of imprisonment prescribed by the statute for the crime." NRS 193.165(1) (1995) (emphasis added). In other words, the sentencing statute for the primary offense dictated the "equal" sentence to be imposed for the deadly weapon enhancement. Thus, the language of the sentencing statute for the primary offense serves as the sentencing language for the deadly weapon enhancement.

As Perez concedes, the sentencing statute for Second Degree Murder, Perez's primary offense, mandates a minimum term that must be served before Perez would become eligible for parole. *See* NRS 200.030(5)(b) (1999) (providing for a definite term of 25 years, with parole eligibility beginning when a minimum of 10 years has been served). Because NRS 200.030(5) required a minimum term prior to parole eligibility, NRS 209.4465(7)(b) precluded Perez from deducting good time credits from the minimum term of his sentence for Second Degree Murder.²

The same language mandating a minimum term prior to parole eligibility also applies to Perez's deadly weapon enhancement because NRS 193.165 required a term "equal to" the imprisonment "prescribed by the statute" for the primary offense.

² Even if Perez had not conceded this point, he would not be entitled to relief because he appeared before the Parole Board and is already on institutional parole for the murder portion of his sentence. *Williams*, 402 P.3d at 1265 n.7.

This means that NRS 193.165, as it read in 2003, required that Perez serve a definite term of 25 years, with his eligibility for parole beginning when he served a minimum of 10 years. Because the sentencing statute for the deadly weapon enhancement adopted the character of the sentencing statute for murder, the enhancement statute specifies a minimum term that Perez must serve before he becomes eligible for parole.

NRS 209.4465(7)(b) prohibits Perez from deducting his statutory good time credits from the minimum term of his sentence for the deadly weapon enhancement because he was sentenced "pursuant to a statute which specifies a minimum sentence that must be served before a person becomes eligible for parole." The Court should affirm the district court's decision.

B. This Court's Unpublished Order Provides Persuasive Authority Supporting the Warden's Position.

In a case where the primary offense mandated a minimum sentence to be served prior to parole eligibility, this Court rejected the claim that good time credits should be deducted from the minimum term of the associated deadly weapon enhancement. *Garcia v. Williams*, 2017 WL 5034469 *1 (Nev. Nov. 1, 2017), Docket No. 71374 (unpublished disposition).³ In *Garcia*, the inmate was serving an aggregated sentence that included the enhancement portion of a sentence for First

³ Cited for its persuasive authority pursuant to NRAP 36(3).

Degree Kidnapping with Use of a Deadly Weapon. *Id.* The inmate committed the offense between July 17, 1997 and June 30, 2007. *Id.*; *see also Williams*, 402 P.3d at 1265 n.7. This Court concluded,

Garcia would not be entitled to have the credits he has earned applied to his parole eligibility on that weapon-enhancement sentence because it was imposed pursuant to a statute that required that he serve a minimum of 5 years before he is eligible for parole. *See* NRS 193.165 (1995) (providing sentence for weapon enhancement based on sentence for primary offense); NRS 200.320(2) (setting forth sentencing range for first-degree kidnapping where victim suffered no substantial bodily harm).

Id. Perez provides no reason for this Court to reach a different conclusion here.

Like the inmate in *Garcia*, Perez is not entitled to deduct good time credits from the minimum term of his deadly weapon enhancement because it was imposed pursuant to a statute that required he serve a minimum term before he is eligible for parole. As in *Garcia*, the deadly weapon enhancement adopted the language of the sentencing statute for his primary offense, requiring a sentence "equal to and in addition to the term of imprisonment prescribed by the statute for the crime…" NRS 193.165(1) (1995). Because NRS 200.030(5), the sentencing statute for his primary offense of Second Degree Murder, requires Perez serve a minimum term prior to becoming eligible for parole, the same restriction applies to his deadly weapon

enhancement. Accordingly, NRS 209.4465(7)(b) prohibits Perez from applying his good time credits to his minimum term of imprisonment.⁴

Perez urges this Court to reject its own reasoning, relying upon a decision involving an inmate whose primary offense did not specify a minimum term that must be served before parole eligibility. *Garcia v. Baca*, 2017 WL 4950044 *1 (Nev. Oct. 30, 2017), Docket No. 70874 (unpublished disposition). Perez's reliance on *Garcia v. Baca* fails for two reasons.

First, in *Garcia v. Baca*, the sentencing statute for the inmate's primary offense did not specify a minimum term that must be served prior to becoming eligible for parole. *See* NRS 193.330(1)(a)(1) (setting a sentencing range of a minimum term of not less than 2 years and maximum term of not more than 20 years). In contrast, the sentencing statute for Perez's offense of Second Degree Murder does set a required minimum term prior to parole eligibility.

Second, this Court reached its conclusion in *Garcia v. Baca* by analyzing the deadly weapon enhancement in the same manner Perez urges this Court to reject – by adopting the specific language of the sentencing statute for the primary offense.

2017 WL 4950044 at *1. The different outcomes in *Garcia v. Williams* and *Garcia*

⁴ The Warden notes that the Nevada Court of Appeals affirmed district court denials based upon this rationale on at least three separate occasions in cases involving inmates with offenses identical to Perez. The Warden can provide these cases should the Court wish to review them. NRAP 36(c)(3).

v. Baca are based solely on the sentencing language of the primary offenses for each

inmate. The Court's analysis contradicts Perez's claim that the weapon enhancement

does not incorporate the parole eligibility language. Appellant's Br. 2-3. Perez fails

to provide any support for that conclusion, and this Court's own analysis rejects his

position.

The sentencing language of Perez's primary offense controls his sentence for

the deadly weapon enhancement, ultimately precluding him from applying his good

time credits to the minimum term of imprisonment.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Warden respectfully requests that this Court

affirm the judgment of the district court denying Perez's Petition.